No. 22-CF-116

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

MASON BINION,



Clerk of the Court Received 07/28/2023 03:18 PM Resubmitted 07/28/2023 07:28 PM Filed 07/28/2023 07:28 PM

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The Superior Court for the District of Columbia, Criminal Division, Case No. 2018-CF1-001370 The Hon. Ronna Beck

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT MASON BINION**

Jonathan I. Kravis\* Xiaonan April Hu MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP 601 Massachusetts Avenue NW, Suite 500 E Washington, DC 20001 Telephone: (202) 220-1100

Counsel for Appellant Mason Binion

# **

STATEMENT OF FACTS					
	A.	Initial Investigation and Indictment4			
	B.	Competency Proceedings			
	C.	Trial and Conviction9			
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT14					
ARGUMENT					
I.	RIGH	TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. BINION'S DUE PROCESS TS WHEN IT FOUND HIM COMPETENT WITHOUT DUCTING A COMPETENCY HEARING			
	A.	Under the Factual Circumstances, the Trial Court Was Required To Hold a Competency Hearing			
	B.	The Trial Court's "Mental Observation Hearing" Did Not Satisfy the Procedural Requirements for a Competency Hearing22			
	C.	This Court Should Reverse Mr. Binion's Conviction Or, Alternatively, Remand for a Retrospective Competency Hearing			
II.		TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. BINION'S JEST FOR A SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTION			
III.	COUI	THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S AIDING AND ABETTING AND CO-CONSPIRATOR INSTRUCTIONS			
	A.	The Prosecution Did Not Introduce Any Evidence That Someone Other Than Mr. Binion Was the Principal Offender34			
	B.	The Trial Court's Error Was Not Harmless			
CON	CLUSI	ON			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Page(s)

### **FEDERAL CASES**

Blunt v. United States, 389 F.2d 545 (D.C. Cir. 1967)17, 23, 24, 27
Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960)25, 28
<i>Griffin v. United States</i> , 502 U.S. 46 (1991)
Hansford v. United States, 365 F.2d 920 (D.C. Cir. 1966)22
Holloway v. United States, 343 F.2d 265 (D.C. Cir. 1964)22
Hull v. Kyler, 190 F.3d 88 (3d Cir. 1999)26
<i>Koon v. United States</i> , 518 U.S. 81 (1996)17
Mathews v. United States, 485 U.S. 58 (1988)
<i>Medina v. California,</i> 505 U.S. 437 (1992)
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966)
<i>Pouncey v. United States</i> , 349 F.2d 699 (D.C. Cir. 1965)
United States v. Klat, 156 F.3d 1258 (D.C. Cir. 1998)27

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

# Page(s)

STATE CASES
Adams v. United States, 558 A.2d 348 (1989)28, 29
Anderson v. United States, 490 A.2d 1127 (D.C. 1985)37
Bennett v. United States, 400 A.2d 322 (1979)21
*Blakeney v. United States, 77 A.3d 328 (D.C. 2013)passim
Brooks v. United States, 599 A.2d 1094 (D.C. 1991)37
Collins v. United States, 73 A.3d 974 (D.C. 2013)
Dickens v. United States, 163 A.3d 804 (D.C. 2017)
<i>Gorbey v. United States,</i> 54 A.3d 668 (D.C. 2012)18
Hargraves v. United States, 62 A.3d 107 (D.C. 2013)17
Henry v. United States, 94 A.3d 752 (D.C. 2014)
Hernandez v. United States, 853 A.2d 202 (D.C. 2004)
Holmes v. United States, 407 A.2d 705 (D.C. 1979)18

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

# Page(s)

Hooker v. United States, 70 A.3d 1197 (D.C. 2013)23, 24, 27
<i>Inyameh v. United States,</i> 956 A.2d 58 (D.C. 2008)
<i>Kittle v. United States</i> , 65 A.3d 1144 (D.C. 2013)28
Lopez v. United States, 373 A.2d 882 (D.C. 1977)21
<i>M.A.P. v. Ryan</i> , 285 A.2d 310 (D.C. 1971)17
<i>Murphey-Bey v. United States</i> , 982 A.2d 682 (D.C. 2009)
<i>Phenis v. United States,</i> 909 A.2d 138 (D.C. 2006)17, 21
<i>Reid v. United States</i> , 581 A.2d 359 (D.C. 1990)
<i>Shuler v. United States</i> , 677 A.2d 1014 (D.C. 1996)
State v. Johnson, 551 N.W.2d 742 (Neb. Ct. App. 1996)26
<i>Wilson-Bey v. United States</i> , 903 A.2d 818 (D.C. 2006) (en banc)
STATUTES
D.C. Code § 24-531.04(a)(1)17

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

# Page(s)

### **OTHER AUTHORITIES**

22A, Corpus Juris Secundum, Criminal Procedure and Rights of	
Accused § 525 (2023)	
D.C. Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2	19

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the trial court violated Mr. Binion's due process rights by failing to hold a competency hearing notwithstanding two undisputed competency reports prepared by the Department of Behavior Health concluding that Mr. Binion suffered from "grandiose delusions" and was "incompetent to proceed with his cases."

II. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Binion's request for a self-defense instruction given the evidence in the record that the decedent was armed with a gun and multiple rounds of ammunition recovered from the scene suggested that there could have been an exchange of gunfire between two different firearms.

III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in instructing the jury on aiding and abetting and co-conspirator liability when the prosecution's entire theory of the case was that Mr. Binion was the principal offender and the prosecution did not introduce any evidence that someone else was the shooter.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2018, the government indicted Mason Binion on murder charges related to the death of Michael Taylor more than a decade earlier. Less than a year before trial, the Department of Behavioral Health ("DBH") filed two competency reports opining that Mr. Binion was *not competent* to proceed with his case. Rather than hold a competency hearing, however, the trial court conducted "a very limited competency

1

voir dire" with Mr. Binion as part of a "mental observation hearing." No experts testified at this hearing, which lasted less than twenty minutes, and neither party was given an opportunity to present any evidence or witnesses. Following this abbreviated hearing and notwithstanding the trial court's observation that Mr. Binion "didn't really have a firm grasp on . . . how the trial is going to work," the court found Mr. Binion competent to stand trial. The trial court's decision to find Mr. Binion competent without a competency hearing violated his due process rights.

Following a jury trial, Mr. Binion was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to 45 years in prison. The jury reached its verdict in the absence of a self-defense instruction, which the trial court declined to issue citing what it perceived to be a lack of evidence supporting such an instruction. That ruling failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Binion as the law requires. The evidence in the record showed that the decedent, Mr. Taylor, had been seen firing his gun into the air earlier in the day; that he brought a firearm with him to his meeting with Mr. Binion; that witnesses heard three shots but Mr. Taylor received only two bullet-related injuries; and that multiple rounds of ammunition, including ammunition of a caliber compatible with Mr. Taylor's firearm, were recovered from the scene. Properly viewed, the evidence at trial was sufficient to put before the jury whether—to the extent they believed Mr. Binion was the shooter—he had acted in self-defense.

At the same time that it declined to give the jury Mr. Binion's requested instruction on self-defense, the trial court decided to instruct the jury on aiding and abetting and co-conspirator liability notwithstanding a dearth of evidence to support this instruction. Throughout trial, as even the trial court acknowledged, App320, the prosecution's theory of liability was that Mr. Binion was the *principal offender*. The prosecution did not present evidence that anyone else could have fired the fatal shot—evidence that the law requires to instruct the jury on non-principal liability. Indeed, during closing arguments, the prosecution represented to the jury that "*all the evidence shows that it was Mason Binion* who shot [Mr. Taylor]." App327 (emphasis added).

Because there was no evidence that there was a different principal offender with whom Mr. Binion could have conspired or otherwise abetted, the trial court abused its discretion in so instructing the jury. Moreover, the error was not harmless. Two days into deliberations, the jury submitted a note to the trial court seeking clarification on whether they could nonetheless convict Mr. Binion if they did not believe he was the shooter or principal offender. In response, the trial court directed the jury to its erroneously given instructions on aiding and abetting and coconspirator liability. Mr. Binion therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction for first-degree murder.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A grand jury charged Mr. Binion with one count of First Degree Murder While Armed (Premeditated), in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Sections 2101 and 4502. On February 12, 2020, a jury found Mr. Binion guilty of the charge. On February 25, 2022, the court sentenced Mr. Binion to 45 years in prison. That same day, counsel for Mr. Binion timely filed a notice of appeal. On March 3, 2022, this Court appointed counsel to represent Mr. Binion pro bono in his appeal. On March 28, 2023, this Court granted prior appellate counsel's motion to withdraw and appointed undersigned counsel to represent Mr. Binion.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. Initial Investigation and Indictment

On the morning of June 22, 2008, police found Mr. Michael Taylor lying face down in an alleyway behind 600 Farragut Street, N.W. in the District of Columbia. App138, 282. Mr. Taylor was deceased and his body bore visible signs of injury. App282, 169. An autopsy revealed that he had suffered a fatal gunshot wound to the left side of the back of his head as well as a graze gunshot wound to his left pointer finger. App169, 171. There was no soot or stippling visible around either gunshot wound, which would have indicated that the shooting took place at closerange. App172-173.

Police recovered several gun cartridges and casings from the alleyway. These included: (1) a fired 9-millimeter Luger cartridge casing; (2) a .22-caliber REM

cartridge containing an unfired round that lay on top of Mr. Taylor's body; (3) a .22 caliber REM cartridge containing an unfired round that lay to the left of Mr. Taylor's body; (4) two fired .22-caliber cartridge casings found next to Mr. Taylor's body; and (5) a .22-caliber REM cartridge containing an unfired round, which was recovered adjacent to Mr. Taylor's body. App143-150, 164-165). Officers conducted a months-long investigation and interviewed more than a dozen witnesses but did not arrest anyone in connection with Mr. Taylor's death. App283-285.

Seven years later, on August 22, 2015, the Metropolitan Police Department received an email from a man named Joshua Massaquoi, who claimed to "have information that can help the closure of the murder of Michael Taylor that occurred on June 22, 2008." App245. Mr. Massaquoi had a history of significant mental illness, including schizophrenia, and suffered from hallucinations, which he testified at trial made him "believe[] some things to be true that weren't actually true." App247, 251, 268. He eventually pled guilty to crime of violence, accessory to murder, and possession of a handgun for participating in the murder of Mr. Taylor. App189, 257-258. On October 24, 2018, following testimony from Mr. Massaquoi and others, a grand jury indicted Mr. Binion on one count of first-degree murder. App1.

### **B.** Competency Proceedings

On March 22, 2019, less than a year before trial, the prosecution expressed concern that Mr. Binion's mental health was "declin[ing]." App6. The prosecution informed the trial court that they and others had seen Mr. Binion talk to himself "out loud" "a lot," and requested that the court "address[]" Mr. Binion's mental health issues. App7. The trial court agreed that Mr. Binion's behavior in court was concerning and ordered a competency evaluation completed. App8-9.

DBH subsequently conducted a 55-minute competency screening evaluation of Mr. Binion and opined in a report filed with the court that Mr. Binion was not competent. App16. Dr. Lia Rohlehr, who conducted the evaluation, noted that Mr. Binion's speech was "pressured and tangential, his behavior was animated, and he expressed what appear to be grandiose delusions." App16. She observed that he struggled to "provide direct answers to several questions." App15. Her opinion was that these symptoms "affect[ed] Mr. Binion's rational understanding of the proceedings against him, as well as his ability to consult with counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding," App16, and she recommended that Mr. Binion undergo a full competency evaluation. App16. On April 1, 2019, the trial court held a mental observation hearing and ordered that Mr. Binion undergo a full competency evaluation. App27.

Dr. Rohlehr conducted a full evaluation of Mr. Binion on May 2, 2019, and concluded in a report filed with the trial court four days later that Mr. Binion was

not competent to stand trial. App30. The report noted that Mr. Binion "exhibited pressured, tangential speech, increased energy levels, grandiose speech, labile mood, and animated mannerisms." App32. The report also described several of Mr. Binion's "paranoid beliefs regarding the government" and his former and current attorneys. App33. The report concluded that although Mr. Binion had a "factual understanding of the proceedings against him," his rational understanding of the proceedings against him," his rational understanding of the proceedings and ability to consult with counsel were impaired. App33.

On May 7, 2019, one day after Dr. Rohlehr filed her report, the trial court held a second mental observation hearing and solicited both parties' views of the report, explaining that "[u]nder the *Duskie* [sic] . . . standard[], especially on matters of ability to consult with counsel, counsel's view is to be given as much weight as professionals['] view anyway." App37. The prosecution expressed some concern with Dr. Rohlehr's conclusion that Mr. Binion was not competent and suggested that it might retain an independent expert to examine Mr. Binion. App36. Defense counsel responded that Mr. Binion did not think he had "mental health concerns" but she acknowledged that there were "[c]ertainly" "idiosyncrasies." App38. She also stated that she was "comfortable . . . challenging the report" and requested "leave to hire our own expert." App36, 38.

The trial court did not think Dr. Rohlehr's report "makes out the strongest case that [Mr. Binion was] not competent," App37, and observed that it was difficult to

match the report's descriptions of Mr. Binion's mannerisms with the report's conclusion that Mr. Binion was not competent. App37. In light of this uncertainty, the court conducted what it characterized as "a very limited competency voir dire," App38, to probe Mr. Binion's competency. The voir dire occupied less than three pages of the hearing transcript and consisted of factual questions that asked Mr. Binion to describe the charge against him, the penalty for that charge, the role of defense counsel and the prosecution, and the standard for conviction. App39-41. On several occasions during this brief colloquy, Mr. Binion expressed confusion, leading the trial court to wonder whether there were "issues with the way [the court was] asking questions about the conduct of the trial." App42.

At the conclusion of the mental observation hearing, the trial court found that Mr. Binion "didn't really have a firm grasp on . . . how the trial is going to work." App44. Nevertheless, the trial court held that Mr. Binion was competent to stand trial. Dr. Rohlehr was not present for the mental observation hearing and did not have an opportunity to explain her conclusions to the court. Neither the prosecution nor the defense were provided an opportunity to retain independent experts or solicit testimony during the hearing. The trial court did not revisit Mr. Binion's competency before trial.

#### C. Trial and Conviction

Mr. Binion's criminal trial began on January 23, 2020. The prosecution's theory was that Mr. Binion and a group of acquaintances had murdered Mr. Taylor over a botched drug deal involving marijuana. Among the witnesses called by the prosecution was Calvin Tillman, who testified that on June 21, 2008, the day before Mr. Taylor's body was found, Mr. Taylor had approached him about doing a potential drug deal with some of Mr. Taylor's acquaintances. App51-52, 56). Mr. Taylor, in his capacity as a middleman, provided Mr. Tillman with almost \$2,000 collected from Mr. Taylor's acquaintances. App71-72. In exchange, Mr. Tillman agreed that he would provide Mr. Taylor's acquaintances with several pounds of marijuana. App56-57. Mr. Tillman reneged on that promise; he testified at trial that although he took the money, he never provided Mr. Taylor or Mr. Taylor's acquaintances with any drugs. App77-78. Mr. Tillman did not identify Mr. Taylor's acquaintances, with whom he was unfamiliar. App61, 63-64.

The prosecution also called Kavaughn Jones, one of Mr. Taylor's best friends. Mr. Jones testified that the night before he died, Mr. Taylor told Mr. Jones that he had received a significant sum of money from Mr. Binion as part of a drug deal that Mr. Taylor was facilitating, but the deal had gone south. App94-95. Mr. Jones testified that he saw Mr. Taylor get into a vehicle with multiple people, including Mr. Binion (whom Mr. Jones had only seen twice before), a few hours before Mr. Taylor was likely killed, close to midnight. App96, 112, 119-120, 122). On crossexamination, Mr. Jones admitted that he had initially told officers a few days after the shooting that he could not see anyone in the car that picked up Mr. Taylor because the headlights were directly in his face. App128, 133. Mr. Jones also testified that he had initially told officers he would not have recognized Mr. Binion even if they had been standing next to each other. App127.

Three witnesses testified that Mr. Taylor was armed with a gun on June 21. Mr. Tillman testified that he saw Mr. Taylor fire a gun into the air earlier in the afternoon. App53-54. Mr. Jones testified that he saw Mr. Taylor bring his .380 semiautomatic Glock to the local recreation center, right before the prosecution argued Mr. Taylor met up with Mr. Binion. App99-101. And a third witness, who was also close with Mr. Taylor, testified that Mr. Taylor "showed me a silver gun" after he dropped Mr. Taylor off at the recreation center that evening. App134-135. Police never recovered Mr. Taylor's gun or the gun that was used to kill him.

Only two witnesses who testified at trial were present either in the alleyway itself or in its vicinity when Mr. Taylor was killed. The first witness was a woman who testified that she heard three gunshots at approximately 12:30am coming from the alley where police later discovered Mr. Taylor's body. App80, 82-84, 89). She testified that she heard a "pop," which sounded like a gunshot, followed by a man saying "ow," followed by two gunshots in short succession. App83.

The prosecution's star witness, and the only person who claimed to have seen Mr. Binion commit the murder, was Mr. Massaquoi. Mr. Massaquoi admitted on the stand that he had a history of significant mental illness, including schizophrenia, and suffered from hallucinations, which he testified at trial made him "believe[] some things to be true that weren't actually true." App247, 251, 268. Mr. Massaquoi initially testified that he committed the murder by himself. App190. He later testified that he could not remember what, if anything, Mr. Binion did on June 21. App201, 211, 212-213. Among other statements, Mr. Massaquoi testified that he could not remember what, if anything, Mr. Taylor died, but he could not remember Mr. Binion was in the car that night. App219-220. Mr. Massaquoi also testified that he did not remember Mr. Binion saying anything to him that evening. App215.

At the lunch recess, Mr. Massaquoi's lawyer pressured him to change his testimony.<sup>1</sup> When his testimony resumed, Mr. Massaquoi now claimed that his prior testimony had been false. Mr. Massaquoi now said that he and Mr. Binion had picked up Mr. Massaquoi's gun on the night of June 21.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Massaquoi now

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Massaquoi testified that he met with his attorney during the lunch break and that his attorney had told him if he continued testifying he could not remember what Mr. Binion did on June 21, then his plea agreement with the government "might be in jeopardy." App263-264.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Massaquoi testified at trial that he had "perjured" himself during the grand jury proceedings by testifying that he retrieved the gun at Mr. Binion's request. App203.

testified that he independently decided to "[w]ipe[] the gun down and clean[] the bullets" after retrieving the gun because his fingerprints were on them and that around this time, Mr. Binion asked, "Who's gonna do it?" App223-225; App270-271. Mr. Massquoi now said that Mr. Binion and two other people had been in the car with him when he picked up Mr. Taylor from the recreation center. Mr. Massaquoi now said that he sat in the car while the other men, including Mr. Taylor and Mr. Binion, exited into the alleyway. App231. Mr. Massaquoi testified that both Mr. Taylor and Mr. Binion had their backs turned to the car and that he saw Mr. Taylor "get hit" and that both Mr. Binion and another friend were standing "over the top of" Mr. Taylor afterwards. App231-233; App274-278. All of this testimony squarely contradicted Mr. Massaquoi's testimony from earlier in the day.

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