BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CF-116

Clerk of the Court Received 12/06/2023 03:22 PM Filed 12/06/2023 03:22 PM

MASON BINION,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES

United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN GILEAD I. LIGHT MICHAEL P. SPENCE

- * KEVIN BIRNEY, D.C. Bar # 1029424 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Kevin.Birney@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2018-CF1-01370

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not plainly err when finding Binion competent to stand trial. After receiving an internally inconsistent report that did not apply the correct standard for competency, the trial court permissibly undertook its own inquiry and engaged in a thorough colloquy tailored to meet the requirements for competency. That process conformed with both statutory and constitutional requirements.

The trial court did not err in declining to give a self-defense instruction. There was no affirmative evidence that Binion acted in self-defense. Instead, the evidence showed that Binion and his co-conspirators executed Taylor while Taylor was lying face-down in an alley.

There was sufficient evidence to support the trial court's aiding-and-abetting and conspiracy instructions. The evidence did not conclusively establish that Binion pulled the trigger of the gun that killed Taylor, but it did conclusively establish that

8

⁴ The defense put on a short case in which it recalled the crime scene officer to refresh him on the fact that some debris on scene, including a rock and what appeared to be a used condom, were not collected as evidence (2/4/20 Tr. 233-34). It also read into evidence stipulations that a now-deceased witness who lived near the crime scene had heard gunshots shortly after midnight on June 22 and had seen a small black car speeding past her house through an alley (2/5/20 Tr. 25).

Binion associated himself with the murder, participated in it as in something that he wanted to bring about, and sought by his actions to make it succeed. Similarly, the evidence showed that Binion was at the center of the conspiracy to kill Taylor.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err Regarding Binion's Competency.

Binion first argues (at 16-28) that the trial court erred by finding him competent without conducting a competency hearing. This argument, raised for the first time on appeal, should be rejected. The court conducted the requisite hearing and permissibly found Binion competent.

A. Additional Background

At a pretrial show cause hearing on March 22, 2019, the government told the court that it had seen Binion "talk[ing] a lot out loud" either to himself or to the prosecutor while standing in the hallway (Appellant Appendix on Appeal (A) at 6). This observation followed a report from Binion's caseworker that Binion's mental health had declined (*id.* at 6-7). Binion acknowledged that he talked to himself but said that he did so "to get in my perspective" (*id.* at 7). The government asked that the court address the situation (*id.*). Binion did not believe that he had mental health issues but consented to an examination to allay any concerns (*id.* at 8-9). The trial

court observed that Binion "appear[ed] to be just a different kind of person than most," but the court did "not know what to make of with regard to it" (*id.* at 9-10).

The trial court ordered that Binion undergo a preliminary screening related to his competency (R. 25). A week later, Dr. Lia N. Rohlehr wrote a report opining that Binion was incompetent to proceed with his case (R. 26 at 4). Dr. Rohlehr recommended that Binion be scheduled for a full competency evaluation (*id.*). At a hearing on April 1, 2019, defense counsel had no objections to Dr. Rohlehr's report, but she relayed that Binion did not think that these inquiries were necessary (4/1/19 Tr. 3). The government deferred to the court as to whether Binion needed further treatment (*id.*). The trial court ordered a full competency examination (R. 27).

On May 6, 2019, Dr. Rohlehr issued a new report based on a 35-minute interview with Binion and a review of the affidavit in support of the arrest warrant, Binion's Pretrial Services Report, and her prior report (R. 29 at 1-2). Because Binion disliked Dr. Rohlehr, she decided to "terminate[]" the evaluation early and not ask "the formal line of competency-related questions" (*id.*). Dr. Rohlehr admitted that Binion "demonstrated a factual understanding of the court process and the proceedings against him" during the initial screening, and she assumed that he continued to possess that knowledge (*id.*). She opined that Binion had paranoid feelings towards his attorneys and the government (*id.* at 3-4). She also opined that Binion was incompetent to proceed even though she reiterated that Binion

"possesses a factual understanding of his case and the legal system" (*id.* at 4). She stated that "additional time is necessary to assess whether he is likely to attain competence in the foreseeable future" (*id.* at 4).

The trial court held a hearing the next day. Defense counsel expressed a desire to hire her own expert to challenge the report (5/7/19 Tr. 3). The government was "not sure we've made any progress here because, although [Dr. Rohlehr] has made a determination that he's not competent to proceed at this point, she hasn't asked any of the standard questions that are always asked" (*id.*). Thus, although the expert had opined that Binion was incompetent to proceed, it was "not your standard incompetent-to-proceed kind of opinion" (*id.*).

The trial court agreed that the language of the report did not seem to match its conclusions (5/7/19 Tr. 4). It noted that the report stated that Binion had "a factual understanding of the proceedings against him [and] the legal system in general," but the report also stated that "his rational understanding and his ability to consult with counsel are likely be affected by his current mental state" (*id.*). Nor had Dr. Rohlehr "done the standard competency examination" (*id.*).

The trial court accordingly doubted that the report "ma[de] out the strongest case that he's not competent" (5/7/19 Tr. 4). It noted the presumption that defendants are competent, and it stated that it did not "see much in here that shakes [the court] from that" (*id.*). The court further stated that "a lot of people who are exhibiting what

[Dr. Rohlehr] says are symptoms" and "what Mr. Binion says is his personality" were competent (*id.*). Indeed, "[v]irtually everyone who exhibits those symptoms is competent" (*id.*).

The government did not have any concerns about competence (5/7/19 Tr. 5). The trial court agreed with the government's statement that the report was "a little bit of a non sequitur" and did not "seem to address the standard" (*id.*). Defense counsel acknowledged that Binion "certainly" had "idiosyncrasies" and that he might have mental health concerns, but she again stressed that he did not believe that he had mental health issues (*id.*). Counsel therefore was "certainly" comfortable with challenging the report (*id.*).

Defense counsel did not object, however, to the trial court's suggestion that it "do[] a very limited competency voir dire" (5/7/19 Tr. 5-6). During that colloquy, Binion correctly told the court that the lead charge in his case was murder, and he recognized that he was facing a lengthy period of confinement if convicted⁵ (*id.* at 6). He cogently explained the difference between pleading guilty and not guilty (*id.* at 6-7). He understood that if he continued to plead not guilty, there would be a trial, which he asserted he would "win" (*id.* at 7). Although at first he stated that he did

⁵ Binion stated he was facing "ninety years in jail," which, although not necessarily correct, displayed an understanding that he was facing "an extensive period of jail" (5/7/19 Tr. 6).

not understand the prosecutor's role in the trial, he later told the trial court that the prosecutors had to prove that he was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt (*id.* at 8). He also understood his counsel's role, which was to "defend [him]" by doing, he hoped, "everything possible" (*id.*). He understood that the judge's role was to "proceed over everything" (*id.* at 9).

The trial court subsequently acknowledged that there "[m]ight be issues with the way [it was] asking questions about the conduct of the trial" and that "there are things that [Binion's counsel] can maybe educate Mr. Binion on," but the court could "see really no competency issue whatsoever at this point" (5/7/19 Tr. 9). The government agreed (*id*.). The court reminded defense counsel that she could raise Binion's competency again at any time, and counsel affirmed that she "absolutely" understood (*id*. at 11). The court found Binion competent to stand trial (*id*.).

No one appears to have raised Binion's competency again either before or during the trial. On April 2, 2020, after Binion was convicted, the presentence report stated that Binion denied any mental health diagnoses or illnesses (Supplemental Record (Supp. R.) #14 at 31 p. 18). Defense counsel did not have any corrections to that report at sentencing (2/25/22 Tr. 7). None of Binion's mother, Binion's counsel, or Binion himself brought up any mental health concerns at the sentencing hearing even though all three individuals addressed the court (2/5/22 Tr. 22-33, 35-36).

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

"In determining whether a defendant is competent to stand trial, the trial court must decide whether a defendant has 'a rational [and] factual understanding of the proceedings against him' and whether he 'has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." Williams v. United States, 268 A.3d 240, 246 (D.C. 2016) (quoting Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960)).

"[T]he trial court has wide discretion in determining competency to stand trial[.]" *Holmes v. United States*, 407 A.2d 705, 706 (D.C. 1979). Accordingly, "[a]ppellate review of a competency finding is deferential because the determination is primarily factual in nature." *Hargraves v. United States*, 62 A.3d 107, 111 (D.C. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A finding of competency will not be set aside upon review unless it is clearly arbitrary or erroneous." *Bennett v. United States*, 400 A.2d 322, 325 (D.C. 1979) (internal quotation marks omitted).

"In determining whether a competency hearing is warranted, factors such as a defendant's irrational behavior, demeanor at trial, prior medical opinions, evidence of mental illness, and representations by defense counsel are all relevant; courts must examine the totality of the circumstances: all evidence should be considered together, no single factor stands alone." *Gorbey v. United States*, 54 A.3d 668, 678 (D.C. 2012). "A court's decision whether to hold a competency hearing in the

absence of a request for one is . . . reviewed for abuse of discretion." *Phenis v. United States*, 909 A.2d 138, 152 (D.C. 2006).

Because Binion did not object to the trial court's colloquy, its competency evaluation, or its competence finding (5/7/19 Tr. 5-6, 11-12), this Court should review his claim for plain error. See, e.g., United States v. Utsick, 45 F.4th 1325, 1338 (8th Cir. 2022); cf. Hooker v. United States, 70 A.3d 1197, 1201 n.4 (D.C. 2013) (declining to apply plain-error review to findings following retrospective competency evaluation agreed to by the parties, but implying that plain-error review would have been appropriate for unpreserved challenge to original competency finding). "Plain error is found only in the exceptional case where, after reviewing the entire record, it can be said the claimed error is a fundamental error, something so basic, so prejudicial, so lacking in its elements that justice cannot have been done." (Steven) Anderson v. United States, 857 A.2d 451, 459 (D.C. 2004) (quoting Bates v. United States, 834 A.2d 85, 92 (D.C. 2003)). "Under the test for plain error, appellant first must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected appellant's substantial rights. Even if all three of these conditions are met, this court will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." Lowery v. United States, 3 A.3d 1169, 1173 (D.C. 2010).

C. Discussion

The trial court did not err, plainly or otherwise, while addressing Binion's competency. To the contrary, it followed the statutory requirements and thoroughly examined Binion's competency before permissibly finding that he was competent. D.C. Code § 24-531.04 sets out the procedures for competency hearings. That statute provides that the court shall hold "[a] hearing" to determine the defendant's competence no more than 45 days after the court orders the competency examination. D.C. Code § 24-531.04(a)(1)(B).6 The trial court ordered the examination on April 1, 2019, and it held a hearing to address it on May 7, 2019 (R. 27; 5/7/19 Tr. 2). At that hearing, the "defendant is presumed to be competent," and the party asserting his incompetence must prove it by a preponderance of the evidence. D.C. Code § 24-531.04(b). No party attempted to prove Binion's incompetence because all parties believed him to be competent (5/7/19 Tr. 3, 5, 11). Nonetheless, the court addressed Dr. Rohlehr's report and examined the issue (id. at 4-6). When a court does so, it "may call its own witnesses and conduct its own inquiry." See D.C. Code § 24-531.04(b) (emphasis added).

The court chose from amongst these permissible options and decided to conduct its own inquiry (5/7/19 Tr. 5-9). The statute does not mandate any

⁶ 45 days applies in this case, rather than 30 days, because Binion was released and ordered to participate in an outpatient examination (R. 27; R. 29).

procedures for that inquiry. But the court appropriately tailored the inquiry to the standard for competence—whether "a defendant has sufficient present ability to consult with his or her lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and has a rational, as well as a factual, understanding of the proceedings against him or her." D.C. Code § 24-531.01(1). Accordingly, the court asked Binion (1) what he was accused of; (2) the penalty for that crime; (3) whether he understood that he had pleaded not guilty; (4) the differences between a plea of not guilty and a plea of guilty; (5) the benefits of pleading guilty; (6) what happens when he pleads not guilty; (7) the role of the prosecutor, Binion's lawyer, and the court; and (8) what the government's burden would be at trial (5/7/19 Tr. 6-9).

Binion either provided a correct response to these questions when they called for a correct response, or a rational response when they allowed for a range of responses. He understood that he was charged with murder, that he would face a lengthy period of incarceration if convicted, that there were benefits to pleading guilty but "not [for him]" because he believed himself innocent, that his attorney was appointed to defend him, that the prosecutor had to prove the case against him beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the judge presided "over everything" (5/7/19 Tr. 6-9). These answers demonstrated that Binion both could effectively consult with his lawyer and that he understood the nature of the proceedings. *See* D.C. Code § 24-531.01(1). Indeed, Binion had clearly effectively consulted with his lawyer to

that point because he had told her that he did not have mental health problems, and she told the court that she was "certainly" comfortable challenging the report based on their discussions (5/7/19 Tr. 5). *See also (Mike) Hernandez v. Ylst*, 930 F.2d 714, 718 (9th Cir. 1991) ("While the opinion of [defendant's] counsel certainly is not determinative, a defendant's counsel is in the best position to evaluate a client's comprehension of the proceedings."); *Blakeney v. United States*, 77 A.3d 328, 357 (D.C. 2013) (noting that "trial counsel's actual experience working closely with [the defendant] on his defense belied the conclusion that he was incompetent").

Having concluded its inquiry, the trial court followed the statute's requirement to either "[f]ind that the defendant is competent; or [f]ind that the defendant is incompetent[.]" D.C. Code § 24-531.04(c)(1)(A)-(B). The court found Binion competent (5/7/19 Tr. 9). No party challenged this finding. Having found Binion competent, the trial court "resume[d] the criminal case[.]" D.C. Code § 24-531.04(c)(2). Nothing more was required.

_

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